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Except for her unusual size, seventy-five feet by eleven feet, 
Emmanuel's exterior resembled a typical wood-sided Pullman car of 
the late nineteenth century. She was an example of the type of car made by 
the Barney and Smith Company of Dayton, Ohio. Its paint was a red­ 
dish brown with a high gloss varnish and just above the twelve center 
windows were the words CHAPEL CAR and below them, in smaller print, 
EMMANUEL. Also on the side of the car close to either end was the 
number 2, which denoted the fact that it was the second of the chapel 
cars to be built.

The car had many interesting features such as the storage boxes 
that were between the wheels and that held coal, ice, wood, storm win­ 
dows and screens. The boarding door opened into the rear of the chapel 
which occupied fifty-six feet of the total length. Wooden pews with 
hymnal racks attached to the backs seated three people on the right 
side of the aisle and two on the left. Beneath each was a small stor­ 
age compartment for Bibles and church literature.

At tha front of Emmanuel's chapel was a brass lecturn with the 
dedication date, May 26, 1393, and its donor, ^lary E. Baker of New 
York, engraved upon it. Just opposite the lecturn was an Esty organ 
which v/as a gift of Colonel Esty of Vermont. On tha wall behind the 
organ v/as a v/oodsn deacon's bench which was upholstered in black leather. 
Brass light fixtures hung from the ceiling the length of the chapel. 
To the rear of tha car is a small .pot belly stove and a closet.

To the left of the deacon's bench was a door which opened into the 
missionary's living compartment which occupied the remaining nineteen 
feet of the total length. On the wall which divided it from the chapel 
was a large roll top desk and above it was a book shelf enclosed by two 
glass doors. Suspended from the wall to the left of the door were 
upper and lower berths, which when not in use were folded tightly 
against the wall. Adjacent to the desk was a small closet which served 
as a kitchen and contained an Adams and Westlake stove and a copper-lined 
sink connected to an overhead water tank, It also featured a china 
closet. At the rear of the compartment, along the left outer wall was 
a lavatory which featured a marble topped commode.

Although the basic structure is solid, Emmanuel is in a state of 
deterioration. The exterior is in need of paint, varnish and re-let­ 
tering. The wheels and storage boxes are gone and the interior is en­ 
tirely bare. Only the marks on the floor indicate where the pews once 
were. The original brass lecturn and Bible have been located and will 
be returned when restoration is complete. The partition between the 
chapel and mission remains but is in need of repair. The upper berth, 
the framework of the desk, closet-like kitchen and the marble lavatory 
remain in varying degrees of condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Chapel Car Emmanuel, built in 1893, was the second of seven railroad cars 
constructed by the Barney and Smith Company of Dayton, Ohio for the Baptist 
Church. It is religiously significant because its main use was to spread 
the gospel, especially to areas that lacked churches. It is also important 
as a social and humanitarian effort by those people who donated their time 
and money for the construction and upkeep of the car. Emmanuel is also sig­ 
nificant as an example of the various uses that railroad transportation 
could provide.

Reverend Boston Smith of Minneapolis, Minnesota conceived the Chapel 
car idea which resulted in the construction of the seven especially designed 
railroad cars: Evangel (1891), Emmanuel (1893), Glad Tiding (1894), Good 
Will (1895), Messenger of Peace (1898), Herald of Hope^(1900), and Chapel 
Car Grace (191571Of these, Emmanuel is the only remaining 19th century 
example. Their specific purpose was to take religion and comfort to the 
churchless frontier areas. Although they received support from the Baptist 
denomination they were ecumenical in scope and ministered to the needs of 
all. However, hundreds of Baptist churches were built as a result of their 
influence.

The cars went to desolate areas throughout the country from coast-to- 
coast and from extreme northern Minnesota to Texas, serving the various needs 
of the local people. When they reached their destination the cars would sit 
on some side tracks for a few days, a few weeks, or in some cases, for a 
few years. Administering to the area's needs, some of the cars carried cur­ 
rent newspapers, magazines and books, so they were not only seen as churches 
but also as a library and social hall. Also, in areas where the settlers 
were still speaking their native languages, the missionaries oftentimes spoke 
to them in their native tongue and distributed Bibles which came in as many 
as six different languages.

By its very nature, the effectiveness of the Chapel cars was dependent 
on the cooperation of the railroads which for many years gave these churches- 
on-wheels free passage on all the lines over which they traveled. While 
being moved great distances the missionaries would often schedule services 
every two hours and they invited the passengers and crewmen to attend. In 
a unique way, they became the railroad man's church both in the railyards 
and as they crossed the country.
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Emmanuel spent most of its career in the west, covering the frontier 
areas of Colorado, California and Nevada^ and unlike many missionary ex­ 
periences, it had great success in attracting people. Sometimes as many 
as 150 children would crowd into pews that had a capacity of between eighty 
and one hundred. Also, the car visited areas where there seemed to be few 
people around but for almost every service, the Chapel was filled. People 
traveled many miles by horseback, wagon, and once even astride a steer to 
have the rare opportunity to attend church.

By 1942, there were no frontiers in the country for the Chapel cars 
to follow, so their services were discontinued. Emmanuel's survival during 
the years is remarkable. Fron 1952 to 1972 she reposed in a Sioux Falls 
junkyard until representatives of the Prairie Village Museum saw her his­ 
toric value and had her moved to Madison, where they plan to restore the 
car.

Only three of these Chapel cars remain today, and it is important that 
Emmanuel be recognized for its contribution to the missionary frontier in 
the United States. When S.F. Smith, who wrote the lyrics to the song "Amer­ 
ica" composed Emmanuel's Hymn in 1893, his words probably best summarize the 
role Chapel Car No. 2 played and the purpose of the missionary movement when 
he wrote:

"Salvation's Chariot, roll
On, till from pole to pole
Christ reigns alone;
Till darkness turn to day
Till earth shall choose His sway,
And all its trophies lay
Before His throne"
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